# An Exploratory Study on Cultural Identity and Participation in Substance Use for Indigenous Youth in Australia.

# **Timothy Clinton Barkley**

Griffith University
School of Criminology and Criminal Justice

Supervisors

**Professor Christine Bond** 

Dr Krystal Lockwood

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Criminology and Criminal Justice Honours

October

2022

# **Acknowledgement of Country**

I would like to identify and acknowledge the traditional custodians and their continued connection to the lands of my birthplace, the Dainggatti language group, and the lands upon which I study at Griffith University, the Jagera, Turrbal, and Yugambeh language groups. I extend this acknowledgement and respect to all Elders, Ancestors, and First Nations peoples and their past and present connection to land, sea, and community.

### **Abstract**

Criminological research has often overlooked the relationship between colonisation and historical trauma, beyond elements of social and economic disadvantage. This study aims to place Indigenous experience as central to our understanding of criminological outcomes, through examining the effect of cultural identity on substance use participation among Indigenous youth.

Data was sourced from the 2018 Australian Longitudinal Study of Indigenous Children (LSIC) for a sample of 422 Indigenous youth. Measures of cultural identity used in this study reflected an Indigenous perspective on cultural identity. OLS regression results showed that there is no significant relationship between self-reported substance use and cultural identity after accounting for other demographic circumstances and life events. On the other hand, strong cultural identity in school and teachers style significantly reduced self-reported substance use.

Contrary to existing research which has suggested that strong cultural identity provides a mechanism for enhancing positive well-being outcomes, this study did not find this mitigating effect on substance use participation for a sample of Indigenous youth (although this may be due to the limited variation in the high levels of cultural identity reported in the survey).

Instead, the results pointed to teachers style and cultural identity in school. In reflecting on how these concepts were measured, the items focus on how safe participants felt about being Indigenous in school, and how much respect was shown in the way teachers' interacted with students (teachers' style). Thus, this study indicates that cultural safety and respect are key concepts that should be considered in future research on substance use among Indigenous youth, as well as in broader criminological research.

Keywords: Colonisation, Culture, Identity, Indigenous, Substance Use, Youth.

# **Statement of Originality**

This work has not previously been submitted for a degree or diploma in any university.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, the thesis contains no material previously published
or written by any other person except where due reference is made in the thesis itself.
Signature:Timothy Clinton Barkley
Date:27/10/22

# **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgement of Country	ii
Abstract	iii
Statement of Originality	v
List of Tables	ix
List of Abbreviations	x
Acknowledgments	xi
Chapter 1: Introduction 1	
Impacts of colonisation	1
Colonisation and cultural identity	3
Colonisation and inter-generational trauma	4
Colonisation, historical trauma, and criminology	5
Purpose of current study	5
Thesis Structure	6
Chapter 2:Literature Review 7	
Explaining Substance Use	7
Mainstream theoretical frameworks explaining substance use	7
General strain theory	7
Social control theory	8
Substance use and risk factors	9
Cultural Identity	10
Measuring cultural identity	11
Current study and research questions	12
Chapter 3: Methods	
Data Source	13
Longitudinal Study of Indigenous Children Footprints in Time	13
Survey methodology	14
Sample and site selection	14
Study development and testing	15
Data collection	15
Ethics LSIC approvals	15
Participants consent	16
Data Access	16

Current Study	17
Data preparation and cleaning	17
Data and participants	17
Variables	19
Dependent variable: Substance use related items	19
Key independent variables: Cultural identity	19
Cultural identity in school	20
Other independent variables of interest	21
Teachers style	21
Adverse family events	21
Financial stress	22
Closest relationships	23
Control variables	23
Level of relative remoteness	23
Level of relative socio-economic disadvantage	23
Age and gender	24
Analytical approach	24
Statistical techniques	24
Diagnostics	25
Limitations	26
Chapter 4: Results	
Is there an association between substance use and cultural identity	27
Substance use, cultural identity, and cultural identity in school	28
Substance use and other independent variables.	28
Smoking, alcohol use, cultural identity, and cultural identity in school	29
Smoking, cultural identity, and cultural identity in school	29
Alcohol, cultural identity, and cultural identity in school	29
Dose cultural identity have an independent effect on substance use, adjusting for other	
life circumstances and demographic characteristics?	
Model 1: The impact of cultural identity on substance use	
Model 2: The impact of cultural identity in school on substance use	
Model 3: The impact of demographic and characteristic variables on substance use.	
Model 4: The impact of teachers' style on substance use	
Model 5: The impact of family on substance use	33

Summary	34
Chapter 5:Discussion	5
Key findings	35
Appendices4	0
References	4

# **List of Tables**

Table 1.1	Stages of Colonisation and State Policy Table	2
Table 3.1	Descriptive Data Table	18
Table 3.2	Cultural Identity Items Table	20
Table 3.3	Adverse Family Event Items Table	22
Table 3.4	Multi Collinearity Diagnostics Table	26
Table 4.1	Descriptive Statistics and Correlations Table	29
Table 4.2	OLS Regression Results Table	35
Appendix 1	Item Recoding Table	41
Appendix 2	Aspects of Indigenous Identity Items Table	42
Appendix 3	Cultural Identity in School Items Table	43
Appendix 4	Descriptives For Teachers Style Items Table	43
Appendix 5	Descriptives For Adverse Family Events Items Table	44
Appendix 6	Descriptives For Financial Stress Items Table	44

## **List of Abbreviations**

ABS Australian Bureau of Statistics

ADA Australian Data Archives

AIATSIS Australian Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies

FAHCSIA Australian Government Department of Families, Housing,

Community Services, and Indigenous Affairs

HREC Human research ethics committee

ICC Indigenous Coordination Centres

LSIC Longitudinal Study of Indigenous Children

NATSIS National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Survey

RAO Research Administration Officers

## Acknowledgments

As a late early scholar, I am frequently surprised with people's interpretations of, and solutions to crime and offenders, and how information and opinion travels through the community driving trends, conversations, political and social change, for better or worse. Further, thinking back on discussions with fellow students, and my honour's lecturer Dr William Wood, highlights for me at least, how research and scholarly debate can stimulate new ideas that may in turn lead to positive change. To my fellow honours students, thank you for the stimulating debate and William, thank you for helping me to think and see beyond convention.

At times the truth can be difficult to digest or confront given our ontological and/or epistemological stance. Who we are and where we are from, our gender, our race, and more interferes at times with our research. But there is distinction in truth seeking when truth seeking reaches past these things and is inclusive of those who may have struggled over time. The challenges, tenacity, courage, and strength of others who live with adversity gives us strength to strive for and persist in tangible positive change despite who we are, where we are from, our gender, our race. To conduct this thesis in the hopes of making real change seems fanciful given its academic level and my limited academic experience, but my research is driven by the voices of those I know and those I don't know who live with adversity, and those who have given their hearts and souls to a commitment for real social change, including the staff and participants involved in the LSIC study.

I am humbled to acknowledge and thank my incredible supervisors, Professor

Christine Bond, and Dr Krystal Lockwood. Their guidance, insights, knowledge and
academic talents, intelligence, sophistication, and humour has been invaluable for me during
this honours project. They have provided me with a good academic foundation for my future

as a researcher. To both of you I am eternally grateful and see you next year. I would like to also thank my wife Wendy for her infinite patience as I work, my brother Darryll for his guidance and encouragement through my undergraduate years, and my father for his support and encouragement, and instilling within me curiosity, honesty, integrity, and understanding.

# **Chapter 1: Introduction**

The importance of knowing and acknowledging the historical context of systematic oppression imposed upon Indigenous peoples<sup>1</sup> by the state is fundamental to understanding their current relationship with criminal law (Cunneen, 2020). Although researchers have acknowledged that colonisation has had an impact on justice related outcomes, mainstream criminological theoretical frameworks have neglected how colonisation has historically, and is presently, impacting upon Indigenous Peoples beyond social and economic disadvantage (Agozino, 2004; Broadhurst, 2002).

Colonisation, from an Indigenous perspective, throws an uncomfortable light on criminological explanations (Tauri, 2013), but is necessary if we are to have an inclusive theoretical lens and a more informed understanding of Indigenous peoples fractured relations with the state. Criminological research must cast its gaze further than simplistic crime predictors of economic stress, welfare dependency, unemployment, and alcohol dependency, to incorporate Indigenous experiences of colonisation and its historic and contemporary artifacts.

#### Impacts of colonisation

The processes and stages of colonisation, as shown in Table 1.1 below, have singled out and marginalised Indigenous peoples and youth in Australia (Nielsen & Robyn, 2003), creating ongoing systemic racism, bias, and inequality across a range of systems, including welfare, education, employment, and justice.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In this research Indigenous Peoples refers to the First Peoples, the Traditional Owners, and Custodians of lands in Australia. I use the terminology Indigenous Peoples as this terminology is used in the LSIC study.

**Table 1.1**Stages of Colonisation and State Policy

Protection	Segregation	Assimilation	Criminalisation
Indigenous peoples	Based on race	Assimilation into white	Another form of state
Protected by English law		culture and Christianity	control
Policies to protect	Accelerated land	Indigenous Push for	Interventions aimed at
Indigenous peoples	dispossession Indigenous	equal rights in the 1960s	regulating suspected
against white settler	Peoples moved on to		deviant groups or
violence and exploitation	missions, stations, and reserves		populations
Protection and English	Indigenous peoples were	Lead to the abandonment	Indigenous peoples were
law did not provide for	portrayed as dangerous	of protection and	again portrayed as
equity in land ownership		segregation policies	dangerous
Land dispossession	A response from white	Distance reduced	Extending the ideology
sanctioned by the state	settlers and moved far	Indigenous Peoples	of dangerousness
through pastoral leasing	from white settlements	access to employment,	
		education, health	
Intensive state efforts to	State controlled	Provided for the	Continued
destroy Indigenous	Policy of surveillance	introduction of	institutionalisation and
culture and traditions	Toney of surveinance	disciplinary offences in	state control through
	Restricted movements	law	imprisonment
Removal of Indigenous	Considered wards of the	Inclusion into the courts	Adult and youth over-
children	state	and imprisonment as	representation in the
		punishment	justice system
Protection as control	Citizens without rights	The push for equal rights	Police play a role
		moved Indigenous	throughout each stage
		peoples from other forms	of colonisation
		of policy and control into	
		incarceration	

(A compilation compiled from Carrington, 2011; Cunneen, 2020; Hogg, 2001; Short, 2003)

State policy remains based on race, systematically controlling and criminalising populations the state considered as being problematic, or deviant (Carrington, 2011). Control,

through criminalisation, has further moved into other domains, such as transport systems, hospitals, public spaces, and schools (Cunneen & Baldry, 2011). For example:

- on transport systems, the tragic death of Ms Tanya Louise Day in police custody on 5 December 2017 resulting from supposed 'unruly' behaviour on a train
- in public spaces, the introduction of new police move on powers in March 2000 (Spooner, 2001; White, 1999),
- in schools, the past and current high rates of exclusions (expulsions) for
   Indigenous youth compared with other students (Graham et al., 2022).

Contemporary, state policy and regulation of Indigenous peoples has converged such that criminalisation and incarceration has taken the place of previous (more overtly racist) white settler policy. O'Brien and Trudgett (2020, p.2) suggest that the contemporary incarceration of Indigenous peoples in Australia "may be perceived as another form of racism and oppression". Concerningly, all too often criminological research has neglected the implications of colonisation in Indigenous over-representation in the justice system, and how historic and current colonial processes and government policy has negatively impacted upon the contemporary social and political positions of Indigenous peoples.

#### Colonisation and cultural identity

These governmental policies and regulations, and state institutional practices, continue to eradicate or erode Indigenous culture. As Cunneen (2020) effectively argues, the disruptive effects of colonisation on Indigenous communities and social patterns, highlight the undermining intentions of authorities in the colonial process (p39). A particular impact has been the ongoing disruption and fragmentation of Indigenous culture and cultural identity in Australia and internationally (Murrup-Stewart et al., 2021). Colonisation from an Indigenous Peoples perspective, (dispossession, marginalisation, and disempowerment), has had a

damaging effect on Indigenous populations and has left many Indigenous peoples traumatised (Cunneen, 2020), and with continuing poor well-being outcomes for both communities and individuals.

#### Colonisation and inter-generational trauma

Historical trauma has been shown to be associated with colonisation and acts of oppression (Nutton & Fast, 2015). Models of historical trauma include physical and psychological violence, segregation and/or displacement, economic deprivation, and cultural dispossession (see e.g. Sotero, 2006. as cited in Nutton & Fast 2015.p839). From our current position, the trauma experienced by Stolen Generations (under the guise of protection) removed from country, families, identity, culture, and way of life, and the ongoing consequences are experienced by communities and families. What is less seen is that the same trauma is being generated by policies and practices that have converged into an over-representation of Indigenous adults and youths in the criminal justice system (Nielsen & Robyn, 2003; White, 2015). Those impacted by detention and prison across generations have been described as the new removals, or the new stolen generation (Tauri & Porou, 2014).

The effects of colonisation and historical trauma may be experienced by Indigenous Peoples over three levels, individual, family, and community, as well as across generations (Sotero, 2006). Historical trauma has been implicated in the cross generational transmission of risk factors for Indigenous Peoples which result in a range of poor outcomes, such as mental and physical illness, suicide, child maltreatment, family and sexual violence, and incarceration (Nutton & Fast, 2015). High levels of substance use is a good example of the ongoing effect of historical trauma (MacRae & Hoareau, 2016).

Substance use can be a response to historical trauma that is associated with lost self-determination and self-governance, as well as lost control of land and cultural way of life (Nutton & Fast, 2015). Through impacting on the ability to be a capable and emotionally

supportive parent, it also creates conditions of inter-generational transmission of trauma (Nutton & Fast, 2015).

#### Colonisation, historical trauma, and criminology

Clearly, colonisation and historical trauma cannot be ignored in understanding a range of outcomes for Indigenous Peoples, particularly in criminology. However, it is not enough for traditional criminological explanations to explicitly 'add' colonisation and historical trauma; rather, theoretical explanations need to do this from an Indigenous perspective. To illustrate what this means, Cunneen (2018) uses the example of domestic violence. Although there have been some shifts in recognising family violence, domestic violence legislation and policy primarily reflects a western conception of self (an individual), rather than an Indigenous conception which places self within kin and country (p27). Further, the ongoing contemporary impact of historical child safety practices (such as forcible removal of children from Indigenous families) also shape victim decision-making about reporting and seeking support. In other words, these differing conceptions and experiences have implications for the way we understand victimisation and victim decision-making.

#### Purpose of current study

The current study aims to contribute to 'de-colonising' our understanding of criminal behavior, through examining the impact of cultural identity on substance use participation for a sample of Indigenous youth. Its contributions are threefold: (1) including a concept that is important to the Indigenous experience (cultural identity); (2) operationalising cultural identity using items developed from an Indigenous perspective; (3) centering the research on Indigenous experiences, rather than a comparison of Indigenous and non-Indigenous experiences.

#### Thesis Structure

Following this introduction, Chapter 2 reviews research on substance use among Indigenous youth, particularly within a context of colonisation, historical trauma, and cultural identity. Chapter 3 describes the secondary data used in this study, detailing the original study that generated the data, the sample, and data screening processes. Key variables are also described in this chapter, along with analytic techniques, diagnostics, and limitations. The results of the analyses performed are reported in Chapter 4, which is followed by a final discussion chapter which highlights the main findings of the research, considers the theoretical and practical implications of the study, and suggests directions for future research.

# **Chapter 2:Literature Review**

In this literature review, I question how mainstream criminological explanations do not sit well from an Indigenous criminology perspective, with a brief overview of key approaches to explaining youths' substance use participation. To move towards a de-colonised explanation of substance use, I introduce cultural identity as a way in which Indigenous people can navigate or mitigate the impact of colonising processes, reviewing different measures of cultural identity used in past research. Past research, albeit limited, on the relationship of historical trauma, cultural identity, and substance use are discussed. Finally, the current study research questions are presented.

# **Explaining Substance Use**

#### Mainstream theoretical frameworks explaining substance use

Although the health costs and effects of substance use in Australia are well documented (Catto & Thomson, 2008), Australian research on adolescent drug use from a criminological perspective is much more limited. There are three key approaches used in past research for explaining substance use among adolescents and young people: general strain theory, social control theory and risk factors framework. Overall, much of this research is conducted in North America, with the risk factor framework being most dominant in the Australian context.

#### General strain

General Strain Theory (GST) proposes that strain caused through blocked goals and failure to reach one's full potential, and the presence of negative stimuli is associated with adolescent drug use (Steele, 2016). In other words, substance use is a response to managing the emotions (e.g. anger or frustration) produced by the experience of strain. Adolescents

who have other coping strategies (such as better life skills, stronger positive relationships) can mitigate these negative emotional responses, and in turn reduce the likelihood of participation in substance use.

Empirically, how well strain explains substance use remains debateable, as research has shown mixed findings, particularly for explaining ethnic differences in substance use via differences in exposure to strain (e.g. Peck, 2013; Eitle et al, 2013). However, regardless of the empirical support, GST would argue that Indigenous youth would experience higher levels of strain (such as unemployed, low socio-economic status, low academic achievement), but have lower positive coping strategies (again linked to socio and economic status).

Together, this results in higher negative emotional responses (anger), and then greater likelihood of participation in substance use (see the argument in Peck, 2013 for African American youth). In this argument, strain may be the result of historical colonising processes (dispossession, marginalisation, and disempowerment), which are exogenous to the model. However, the key critique is GST's emphasis on individualised responses to the experience of strain. The theory focuses on an autonomised individual. At least in Australia, this is contrary to Indigenous perspectives and experiences.

#### Social control

There is a wealth of research on social control theory and substance use. To summarise briefly, social control argues that connection to pro-social others, and pro-social activities, provides a bond to conformity, which in turn deters deviance (Hirschi, 1969; Schroeder & Ford, 2012). There has been considerable empirical testing of social control theory and adolescent substances use. Overall, there is support that at least some form of pro-social attachment or activity are associated with substance use (e.g. Bahr, Hoffman & Yang, 2005; Han et al. 2015; Krohn & Massey, 1980; Vakalahi, 2001).

There is a deficiency of research using social control theory to explain substance use among Australian Indigenous youth although, there are international studies exploring ethnic differences in substance use from a social control perspective. This research suggests the effect of different prosocial attachments and activities on substance use varies by ethnic group. For example Nagasawa et al. (2000) found that attachment to parents and family insulated some racial groups from substance use while attachment to teachers insulated other groups. Again, it is tempting to argue that, for Indigenous youth, colonisation has impacted the nature of prosocial attachments, such as through the removal of children or the fragmentation of families, resulting in the lower formation of prosocial relationships, which in turn weakens bonds to conformity, and increases the likelihood of substance use. While recognising the context of colonisation is vital, the underlying model of what counts as a prosocial attachment remains within a westernised colonial understanding of relationships.

#### Substance use and risk factors

A risk factor approach in criminology gained momentum over a decade ago (Farrington 2000) and is the most common approach to understanding substance use among adults and adolescents in Australian research. Studies have shown that tobacco, alcohol, and cannabis use cluster together for young people, including Australian Indigenous youth (Heris et al., 2021). For instance, alcohol and cannabis are predictors of smoking in school student populations (Heris et al., 2021). A range of risk and protective factors for substance use at individual, social, and environmental levels have been identified (Loxley et al., 2004). Despite the recognition of environmental factors, this approach has been criticised as reductionist, treating populations as homogeneous and ahistorical (Haines & Case, 2008). Further, it has been over-reliant on samples of white, working-class males in industrialised Western nations (Farrington, 2007). However, research on more diverse samples is emerging. For instance, using a sample of Indigenous and non-Indigenous youth, Heris et al. (2021) found that risk factors for tobacco

use included: disconnection from family and bullying (social); social disadvantage, housing, and remoteness (environmental). Protective factors included connection to culture and cultural participation.

## **Cultural Identity**

Cultural identity as a protective factor has emerged as a one way to start moving towards including Indigenous perspectives, particularly in health and well-being research. Indigenous cultural identity can often be framed within cultural principles and concepts of social connectedness, supported through community associations and engagement in traditional cultural activities (Shepherd et al., 2018b). Positive outcomes on health and wellbeing can be attributed to a strong cultural identity, while strong cultural identity is empirically related to community connection, engagement in cultural practices, bonds with family and kin, and a sense of agency (Shepherd et al., 2018b).

The positive outcomes of strong cultural identity and cultural engagement are well-documented (King et al., 2009; Shepherd et al., 2018b; Shepherd et al., 2018a; Williams et al., 2018). Shepherd et al. (2018a) found that higher levels of cultural identity, and engagement in cultural activities, protected against the psychological distresses of discrimination. In New Zealand, Williams et al. (2018) found that Māori youth with a strong cultural identity experienced good mental health.

This has also been found for crime-related outcomes. Ferrante (2013) found that cultural factors provided protective effects against police arrest for Indigenous peoples; Indigenous people's participation and connection to community were at least as important in crime reduction as other well-known factors, such as educational achievement. Outcomes for alcoholism reduction programs that are culturally based within Indigenous communities have looked very promising for over twenty years (McCormick, 2000). Finally, and of particular

interest for the current study, Cao et al. (2018), in a study on drug use and Indigenous peoples in Canada, found that stronger ties to community were correlated with a reduced likelihood of trying illicit drugs; each 1 unit increase in strength of community ties resulted in a 6% reduction in illicit drug use.

#### Measuring cultural identity

There is no single measure of cultural identity used in past research, although most use a mix of language use, connection, and participation in cultural or traditional activities. For example, Dockery's (2010) measure of cultural identity drew upon variables from the 2008 Australian National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Survey, including items relating to cultural participation, identity, language, and traditional activities. Ferrante (2013) uses factors of cultural strength, such as the use of an Indigenous language, connection to a clan, tribe or language group, homeland recognition, and participation in cultural events (p67).

One drawback with these types of measures is that Indigenous peoples or youth may have a strong sense of cultural identity and have family and community connection without speaking an Indigenous language or participating in cultural activities. For example, as shown in the National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Survey results 2014-2015, around 34% of Indigenous youth aged 4 to 14 years spoke an Indigenous language, 63% were involved in cultural activities, and 51% spent time with elders (ABS, 2016). Do those who do not speak an Indigenous language have a weaker cultural identity? Are they not counted as being Indigenous? This is particularly pertinent, given, as noted earlier, colonisation in Australia through government policy has had a damaging effect on Indigenous culture, including language.

In a study on cultural identity, cultural engagement, and violent offending, Shepherd et al. (2018a) proposed a different approach, separating cultural identity from cultural engagement. Cultural identity was measured using items that included psychological indicators

of social and emotional wellbeing; while, cultural engagement used, indicators of participation in Indigenous activities. Overall, measures of culture and identity used in past research are somewhat lacking, particularly as these measures generally lack Indigenous input or voice on how culture and cultural identity should be measured, and what identity means to them.

# **Current study and research questions**

Mainstream criminological explanations for substance use participation among adolescents tend to overlook the harmful effects of colonisation, and historical trauma, as well as what their experiences mean from their perspectives. Cultural identity has emerged one way to create a more inclusive understanding of a range of outcomes, although:

- its application in research on Indigenous adolescent substance use is limited
- its measurement has not necessarily involved Indigenous input.

This study seeks to address these gaps, exploring the following questions in a sample of Australian Indigenous youth:

- 1. Is cultural identity related to substance use participation?
- 2. Does cultural identity have an independent effect on substance use participation, after accounting for other life events and demographic characteristics?

Research has demonstrated that historical trauma is correlated with adverse experiences for Indigenous peoples; while strong cultural identity is linked to good mental and physical health, which should reduce the likelihood of substance use participation.

# **Chapter 3: Methods**

This methods chapter provides an overview of the Australian Longitudinal Study of Indigenous Children (LSIC) study research (the data used in this study), highlighting the methodology used by the LSIC study's researchers, including data collection, survey methods, sample selection, development, and testing. The current study's procedures are highlighted with detailed descriptions of the variables used in the research. Finally, the analytical approach will be outlined.

Quantitative research was used to answer this study's research questions given the nature of the data. Although a quantitative approach was taken, Indigenous voices are present as the LSIC study was developed by Indigenous researchers in consultation with Indigenous community stake holders. Further, this study's analysis does not compare Indigenous experiences to non-Indigenous experiences but rather, explores the diversity within the experiences of Indigenous youth.

## **Data Source**

#### Longitudinal Study of Indigenous Children Footprints in Time

To address the research questions in this study I used a cross-sectional secondary analysis approach, relying on the LSIC data set. This data set contains rich information from over 1,200 participants across 2,500 variables. The LSIC study is managed by the Australian Government Department of Families, Housing, Community Services, and Indigenous Affairs (FaHCSIA) under the guidance of a Footprints in Time Steering Committee.<sup>2</sup> The study has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> All information in this methods chapter on the LSIC study has been sourced from the LSIC data user guide release 11.0 unless otherwise referenced

followed two cohorts of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children from urban, regional, and remote locations throughout Australia over a 13-year period, from 2008 (Wave1) to 2022 (Wave 15). Wave 11, which is the wave selected for this study, was conducted in 2018. It was the first study wave that captured justice system related data and is the last wave conducted before the Covid-19 pandemic.

#### Survey methodology

The LSIC survey methodology for each wave in the study is a cross-sectional sequential design, following two cohorts. Participants from cohort B entered the study as babies while cohort K entered the study at kindergarten age. A cross-sectional sequential design comprises of limited repeat measures collected from participant groups who enter the study at the same time but at different key developmental ages. This creates a data set that contains temporarily overlapping measurements of the various age groups (Duncan et al., 1996). Recruitment into the LSIC study was conducted both formally through invitations to addresses obtained from Centrelink and Medicare Australia, and informally by word of mouth, local knowledge, and study promotions.

#### Sample and site selection

The LSIC study used a non-random purposive sampling design. Eligible families were approached, voluntary consent obtained, and further agreements and approvals obtained from Elders in each site before the research commenced. Eleven sites were chosen to cover a range of socio-economic and community environments where Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children resided, covering New South Wales, Victoria, Queensland, Western Australia, South Australia, and the Northern Territory. Sites were also chosen to reflect equal representation of urban, regional, and remote areas. The final sites used in the study also included locations already engaged in pilot studies, and locations near Indigenous Coordination Centres (ICC)

where Research Administration Officers (RAOs) could be or were based. Actual site names were not released for confidentiality reasons.

#### Study development and testing

The LSIC study was designed and developed under the supervision of the Footprints in Time steering committee whose members are predominantly eminent Indigenous researchers, and with extensive consultation with Indigenous communities, organisers, and service providers in each area. This process ensured that the study gave a voice to and reflected the best interests of Indigenous peoples, and that the data obtained would benefit the children and their families. A pilot study was conducted prior to commencement with the support of the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) who assisted in testing the questionnaires and field procedures.

#### Data collection

Initially, informed consent was obtained from the study child's parents or carers and their families. Interviews were conducted by Department of Social Security (DSS) employed Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander RAO's. The LSIC study questionnaires asked participants a range of questions relating to factors associated with participants well-being including physical, social, and cognitive development, family and community relationships, and other significant life events. At each wave each cohort were asked only age-appropriate questions. The interviews, which were conducted by RAO's, were extensive in detail and face- to- face.

#### Ethics LSIC approvals

Ethics clearance for FaHCSIA to conduct the LSIC study was initially obtained through the Australian Government Department of Health's Departmental Ethics Committee which has continued to be the primary Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC). Further clearances were obtained from state-based HREC's or their equivalent, as well as consultations with state Departments of Education, the Catholic Dioceses, and state and territory departments managing

out-of-home care. Later approval for the study was given in 2018 by the Australian Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies (AIATSIS).

#### Participants consent

Participant consent was obtained by research staff in several phases. The first phase involved an introductory letter and DVD being sent to a potential study child and their families. The materials contained descriptions of the study and the consent procedures. Second, at the beginning of each interview, RAOs worked through each consent form with the primary parent or carer explaining the consent being sought. This enabled parents and carers to make informed decisions about their participation in the study. A statement was provided to participants who preferred to read about the study. Also, parents and carers provided consent on behalf of the study child.

Permission was sought for the recording of interviews, contact to be made with other parents and care givers, the study child to be photographed, and their teachers and/or childcare workers to be contacted. Parents and carers were provided with a summary sheet that included all consent agreements, and the contact details of the ethics committee and the DSS. Parents and carers were also informed that they could change their consent or withdraw from the study at any time. Finally, confirmation of previous consent was sought at each wave of the study. New consent forms provided allowing contact with the second parent and teachers/childcare workers, these were also signed before the commencement of each new wave.

#### Data Access

The LSIC data is of a cultural and age sensitive nature as it contains data and information about young Indigenous children and their families. Therefore, there is a formal process for external researchers to access the data that requires consideration of these issues.

The application process required the provision of external researchers general contact information, information on the academic institution and program of study, data storage data

safety, and more. Also, questions were asked on how my cultural background would affect the materials produced, and how this would be addressed. For the current study, and in addition to the inclusion of an Indigenous scholar as my research supervisor, I have committed to following an approach that centres Indigenous perspectives to the research. The application process also involved completing separate confidentiality deed polls through Australian Data Archive (ADA Data verse) by each researcher on the research team. Finally, ethics approval was obtained from the Griffith University HREC. As this was secondary data collected under an approved protocol, the ethics application was an expedited review.

## **Current Study**

#### Data preparation and cleaning

Several steps were followed in the initial preparation of the LSIC data set before analysis could begin. These steps involved gathering the appropriate data from the LSIC study data set. For expediency, as the LSIC data set contained over 2,500 variables, a new data set was created in SPSS version 27 through data transfer to include only the variables needed for this study. Further data preparation included filtering out cohort B (entered as babies)<sup>3</sup> (n = 754) and deleting cases that were missing vital data (n = 77). As a result, there were 422 cases remaining.

#### Data and participants

This study relied on the LSIC study wave 11 data gathered from the questionnaire responses of the study child and parent 1 respondents only. The study was limited to the older Cohort K as questions on cultural identity, justice system contact, and substance use were only available for the older cohort in the data set. As shown in Table 3.1, from a sample of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This cohort was excluded from the analysis as they were not asked vital questions on substance use in the LSIC study.

422 cases, 421 participants were aged between 12.17 and 15.5 years (M = 14, SD 0.49) and half were male. The highest proportion of participants resided in an area of low relative remoteness (n = 228, 54.3%), with less than 10 percent residing in high/extreme relative remoteness (n = 35, 8.3%).

**Table 3.1**Table of Descriptive Statistics for Variables used in the Study.

Items	%	N	M	SD	Min - Max	Cronbach's Alpha
Dependent Variable						
Substances ever used	Yes					
Smoking	21.9	92				
Vaping	10.5	44				
Alcohol	39	164				
Marijuana	8.6	36				
Chroming	.7	3				
Other drugs	.7	3				
Substance use scale			.78	1.1	0 - 6	.62
<b>Key Independent Variables</b>						
Cultural Identity scale		365	62.70	13.11	15-75	.95
Cultural Identity in School scale		381	20.39	3.95	4-24	.82
Other Independent Variables						
Teachers style scale		397	24.68	5.11	5-30	.90
Financial Stress scale		410	13.3	1.24	7-14	.71
Adverse family events		421	2.43	2.0	0 - 11	.61
Closest relationships		421	5.46	3.34	0 - 18	
Control Variables						
Age		421	14	.49	12.17-15.5	
Male	50	211				
Female	50	211				
Level of remoteness						
None	28.6	120				
Low	54.3	228				
Moderate	8.8	37				
High/extreme	8.3	35				
Socio-economic disadvantage		418	3.12	2.4	1 - 10	

## **Variables**

#### Dependent variable: Substance use related items

The dependent variable (substance use) is a scale using substance related items where the study child was asked whether they had participated in smoking, vaping, alcohol, marijuana, chroming, and other drugs. Other drugs included ice, heroin, and cocaine. These items were recoded (as 1 = yes; 0 = no) to indicate whether the SC had ever used (or not) that substance (see Appendix 1). An additive substance use scale was computed from the 6 substance use items<sup>4</sup>. With a Cronbach's alpha of  $.62^5$ , this index shows good internal consistency (see Table 3.1). Cronbach's alpha is a test for internal consistency and shows whether the items used to compute the scale are all measuring the same construct (Tavakol & Dennick, 2011).

As shown in Table 3.1, the highest proportion of participants reported yes to alcohol use (39%), followed by smoking (21.9%), with less than 1 per cent reporting ever chroming (.7%) or using other drugs (.7%). The mean substance use score was .78 (SD = 1.1) indicating very low overall substance use across the study sample.

#### Key independent variables: Cultural identity

Items measuring cultural identity, drawn from the LSIC study, are described in Table 3.2. The 15 items focused on whether the study child was socially or emotionally connected to or participated in Indigenous cultural tenets and activities. These items were developed by the LSIC study's eminent Indigenous researchers and therefore accurately reflect Indigenous perspectives of their own cultural identity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Analysis and scale construction in the study were computed using SPSS version 27 statistical software. For all scales, if an item was missing, the case was excluded from the analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Chronbach's alpha scores for all scale variables are shown in Table 3.1

Table 3.2

Cultural Identity Items

Knowing about your people/mob	Learning from strong Indigenous role models	Indigenous events
Knowing about your country	Ways and laws of Indigenous ancestors	Bush foods and medicines
Knowing about your Indigenous family connections	Being strong and deadly	Indigenous symbols, designs, and art works
Knowing the Indigenous stories	Having Indigenous friends	News media organizations that talk about culture

Appendix 2 presents the results of the samples responses to these cultural identity items. Most participants scored all 15 items as being either important or extremely important to them. An additive cultural identity scale was computed from the 15 cultural identity items. This scale has strong internal consistency with a Cronbach's alpha of .95. With scores ranging from 15 (least important) to 75 (most important), the mean score on cultural identity across the sample was 62.7 (SD = 13.11), indicating that on average cultural identity rated very highly across the sample (see Table 3.1).

#### Cultural identity in school

A second cultural identity variable was constructed, reflecting the study child's perception of their cultural identity within a particular context (school). These items were, (i) the study child felt good about being Indigenous in class; (ii) wanted to share things about being Indigenous in class; (iii) felt safe about being Indigenous in class; and (iv) wanted classmates to know that he/she is Indigenous. As shown in Appendix 1, responses were reverse coded, so lower responses scored 1 and higher responses scored 6.

Similar to the cultural identity items, the cultural identity in school items all rated highly across the sample (see Appendix 3). An additive cultural identity in school scale was computed, with good internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha .82). Ranging from 4 to 24, the mean score for cultural identity in school was 20.39 (SD = 3.94), indicating that on average cultural identity in school rated very high for participants in the study (see Table 3.1).

#### Other independent variables of interest

The inclusion of these variables drew on key theoretical frameworks, and their availability in the data.

#### Teachers style

Participants answered a number of questions about their perceptions of how fair and receptive their teachers were toward them in class. Teachers' style included 5 items: (i) that the teacher listened to the study child; (ii) the teacher was fair to the study child; (iii) the teacher made class a fun place to be; (iv) the teacher cared about the study child; (v) and the teacher understands how the study child talks. The items ranged from 1 to 6 where 1 = never and 6 = always. Most participants scored these items as always (see Appendix 4). Thus lower scores reflect negative responses, and higher scores reflect positive responses. An additive teachers positivity scale was computed. It's Cronbach's alpha of .90 suggests strong internal consistency. The mean score was 24.68 (SD = 5.11), on a scale ranging from 5 to 30 (see Table 3.1).

#### Adverse family events

Recall that the study child questionnaire was supplemented with a parent questionnaire. Information on adverse family events was drawn from the parent data. As described in Table 3.3, there were 13 items measuring adverse family events that had occurred in the last 12 months.

 Table 3.3

 Table of adverse family event items

	In the last 12 months a family member	
Was hurt or sick	Lost a job	Had a alcohol and drug problem
Passed away	Had housing problems	Was robbed
Family arguments	Study child being scared by others	Was mugged or assaulted
Family split up	Had problems with police	Were arrested or jailed
Study child being cared for by others		

These items were recoded to reflect the presence (1 = yes) or absence (0 = no) of the event (see appendix 1). Most respondents answered no to these event items except for a family member passing away (n = 215, 50.9%), was hurt or sick (n = 144, 34.1%), and had housing problems (n = 127, 30.1%). An additive adverse family events scale was created, with good internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha of .61). The mean score for participants was 2.43 (SD = 2.0) indicating that on average respondents scored very low on presence of adverse family events.

#### Financial stress

Financial stress variables were also drawn from the parent questionnaire. The 7 items included, (i) could not pay bills; (ii) could not pay housing payments; (iii) went without meals; (iv) were unable to heat/cool home; (v) pawned something; (vi) sought assistance from welfare organisations; (vii) and the study child could not do school activities. The items were recoded to indicate occurrence (1 = yes) or not (0 = no). Most respondents reported no to financial stress items (see appendix 6). The highest proportion of participants reported not being able to pay bills on time (n = 108, 26%), followed by seeking assistance from welfare organisations (n = 52, 12.5%). An additive financial stress scale was computed. With a Cronbach's alpha of .71,

this suggests strong internal consistency. The mean score was .70 (SD = 1.24), indicating on average very low levels of financial stress (see Table 3.1).

#### Closest relationships

In the current study only the closest relationships (circle 1) was used as overall most relationships fell within this circle. The variable 'closest relationships' is a continuous measure of the number of reported relationships in the study child's life. The number of closest relationships ranged from a minimum of 0 to a maximum of 18 people across the sample (see Table 3.1). The mean number of close relationships was 5.46 (SD = 3.34.

#### Control variables

Several demographic control variables were included to adjust for remoteness, socioeconomic status, participant gender and participant age.

#### Level of relative remoteness

Level of relative remoteness (LORI) was measured in the LSIC study as relative closeness of 5 types of service centres, an extension of the Accessibility/Remoteness Index of Australia (ARIA), a standard Australian Bureau of Statistics index. Categories for LORI were i) no remoteness; ii) low remoteness; iii) moderate remoteness; and iv) high/extreme remoteness. As this was an ordinal variable, dummy variables were created for each level (coded 1 = yes and 0 = no), with not remote as the reference category (see Appendix 1).

Most participants resided in low-level remoteness (n = 228, 54.3%), followed by just over a quarter residing in non-remote areas (n = 120, 28.6%). Less than 10% of participants lived in moderate remoteness (n = 37, 8.8%) or high/extreme remoteness (n = 35, 8.3%).

#### Level of relative socio-economic disadvantage

A level of relative socio-economic disadvantage was included in the LSIC study, based on the deciles of socio-economic indexes for areas (SEIFA) using the Australian 2016 census.

From a possible scores ranging from 1 to 10, where 1 = the most disadvantaged and 10 the most advantaged, the mean score for participants on socio-economic disadvantage was 3.12 (SD = 2.4) (see Table 3.1). This indicates that, on average, participants in the sample scored as disadvantaged.

#### Age and gender

Other control variables included in this study were age, and gender. As participants age was bounded between 12.17 and 15.5 years and thus not continuous due to the sampling procedure, it was recoded as 13.5 years and under = 0, and over 13.5 years = 1. About 18% (75) of participants were aged 13.5 years and under, and 82.2% (346) (see Table 3.1). Gender was also recoded as male = 1 and female = 0. Analysis showed that participants were evenly split, male (211), and female (211) (see Table 3.1).

## **Analytical approach**

#### Statistical techniques

To address research question 1, bivariate correlation analyses were used to examine the associations between the dependent variable (substance use) and the independent variables, as these were scale variables and could be treated as continuous. Non-parametric analyses (Mann-Whitney U) were performed to examine the association between two individual substance use items (smoking and alcohol) and the independent variables of interest. Smoking and alcohol use were the most frequently reported substances used by sample participants. Finally, OLS regression was conducted to estimate the impact of cultural identity on substance use while controlling for other life circumstances and demographic characteristics (research questions 2).

#### **Diagnostics**

Standard checks for violations of assumptions, including normality, linearity, and homoscedasticity, were conducted. Although a histogram showed that the substance use scale was not normally distributed as there were more respondents who scored at the lower end of the substance use scale, appropriate visual checks using scatter plots (residuals vs predicted values) indicated that the assumptions of linearity and homoscedasticity were tenable

Further, collinearity analysis indicated that multicollinearity was also not a concern (see Table 3.4). All variance inflation factors were less than 10 and tolerances above .2. As there was no excessive multicollinearity among the variables (i.e. variables were not highly correlated), all the variables were kept in the model. Thus, the diagnostics showed that assumptions have been reasonably met for this analysis.

**Table 3.4**Table of Results for Multicollinearity Analysis.

	Tolerance	VIF
Cultural identity	.706	1.416
Cultural identity in school	.601	1.664
Teachers style	.704	1.421
Family events	.885	1.131
Financial stress	.890	1.124
Age	.956	1.047
Closest relationships	.815	1.227
Gender	.931	1.074
Socio-economic disadvantage	.847	1.181
Level of relative remoteness (LORI)		
Low	.715	1.398
Moderate	.798	1.253
High/Extreme	.729	1.371

## Limitations

This study has several limitations. There are two key limitations to note here. First, the data used was secondary data, therefore this study was constrained by the available variables in the original data set. As a result, it was not possible to include all variables suggested by key theoretical frameworks, and some measures are limited to the available questionnaire items. Second, generalisability may be limited, as the study relies on a non-probability sample of Indigenous youth for a particular age-graded cohort.

# **Chapter 4: Results**

As described in Chapter 3, self-reported survey data from Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander youth were used to examine the relationship between the dependent variable substance use, and the key independent variables (cultural identity and cultural identity in school), adjusting for other independent and control variables. In this chapter, the results of bivariate and multivariate analyses are reported. Bivariate correlation analysis was conducted to examine the relationship between substance use, cultural identity variables, and other independent variables. Non-parametric tests (Mann-Whitney U) explore the association between median cultural identity scores for the most frequently used substances (smoking and alcohol use). OLS regression was used to estimate the effects of cultural identity, and cultural identity in school on substance use, adjusting for other variables.

# Is there an association between substance use and cultural identity

The first research question focused on whether there was an association between substance use and cultural identity (measured as cultural identity and cultural identity in school), for Indigenous youth in the study sample. Table 4.1 reports the results of the bivariate correlation analysis. The analysis also included the other independent variables of interest (teachers' style, and other life events).

#### Substance use, cultural identity, and cultural identity in school

As shown in Table 4.1, there is no significant relationship between substance use and cultural identity (r(346) = .03, p = .57), but there is a significant (although weak) negative relationship between substance use and cultural identity in school (r(358) = -.153, p = .004).

Table 4.1

Descriptive Statistics and Pearson's Correlations Coefficients for Substance Use, Cultural Identity, Cultural Identity in School, Teachers Style, and Other Life Circumstances

Variable	M	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1. Substance use	0.8	1.1							
2. Cultural identity	62.7	13.1	0.030						
3. Cultural identity in school	20.4	3.9	153**	.498**					
4. Teachers style	24.7	5.1	238**	.121*	.352**				
5. Closest relationships	5.46	3.35	039	079	051	.024			
6. Adverse family events	2.4	2.0	.201**	0.027	-0.058	-0.081	0.078		
7. Financial stress	0.7	1.2	0.089	-0.038	-0.028	0.021	-0.038	0.093	

N = 291 \*\*. P < 0.01 level. \* P < .05 level.

#### Substance use and other independent variables.

Overall, there are few significant associations between substance use and the other independent variables. There is no significant relationship between substance use and closest relationships (r(397) = -.039, p = .438), or substance use and financial stress (r(387) = -.089, p = .079). However, there is a significant but weak negative relationship between substance use and teachers' style (r(372) = -.238, p = .001), and a significant weak positive relationship between substance use and adverse family events (r(395) = .201, p = .001).

#### Smoking, alcohol use, cultural identity, and cultural identity in school

To further explore the relationship between substance use and the cultural identity measures, the analysis also examined the association between the most frequently reported substances used by participants (smoking and alcohol use). Due to the non-normal distribution of smoking and alcohol use, these items were coded into two groups: have used versus have not used. As it is a more robust test, Mann-Whitney U tests were then used to compare median cultural identity and cultural identity in school scores for participants who had used these substances to those who had never used.

#### Smoking, cultural identity, and cultural identity in school

The results of a Mann Whitney U test U (= 9953.5, z = -1.626, p = .104) indicate that median cultural identity scores were not significantly different for the group who answered no to smoking (Md = 66, n = 286) compared with the group that answered yes to smoking (Md = 69, n = 79). The effect size is small ( $\eta^2 = \frac{Z^2}{N-1}$ ) r = .007).

Similarly, median cultural identity in school scores were also not significantly different (U = 11200.5, z = -1.21, p = .225) for the group who answered no to smoking (Md = 22, n = 299) compared with the group that answered yes to smoking (Md = 21, n = 82), with a small effect size( $\eta^2 = \frac{Z^2}{N-1}r = .003$ ).

#### Alcohol, cultural identity, and cultural identity in school

Similar results were also found for alcohol use. Cultural identity scores were not significantly different (U = 14730.0, z = -.868, p = .386), ( $\eta^2 = \frac{z^2}{N-1}$  r = .007) for the group who answered no to alcohol use (Md = 68, n = 229) compared with the group that answered yes to alcohol use (Md = 66, n = 136).

Median scores for cultural identity in school were not significantly different (U = 15431.0, z = -1.67, p = .225) ( $\eta^2 = \frac{z^2}{N-1}r = .007$ ) for the group who answered no to alcohol use (Md = 22, n = 235) compared with the group that answered yes to alcohol use (Md = 21, n = 146).

# Dose cultural identity have an independent effect on substance use, adjusting for other life circumstances and demographic characteristics?

The OLS regression results are reported in Table 4.2. The analysis proceeded through introducing variables in a series of conceptual blocks. Five blocks (or models) were used:

Model 1 contained only cultural identity; Model 2 added cultural identity in school; Model 3 added demographic characteristics; Model 4 included the school-related cultural identity variable (teachers' style); and Model 5 added family and life circumstances variables.

. .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In some disciplines, this approach is known as hierarchical regression. However, as there are also other hierarchical (multi-level) modelling approaches, I have chosen not to use this term.

 Table 4.2

 Results for OLS Regression Analysis

		Model 1			Model 2			Model 3			Model 4			Model 5	
Variables	b	β	p	b	β	p	b	β	p	b	β	p	b	β	p
Constant	.841		.010	1.543		.001	1.073		.013	1.223		.033	1.139		.055
Cultural Identity	002	019	.741	.008	.095	.157	.009	.106	.110	.006	.073	.263	.006	.068	.300
Cultural Identity School				064**	227	.001	062**	218	.001	032	114	.108	030	108	.128
SE-Disadvantage							.014	.031	.606	.019	.043	.469	.021	.047	.429
Age Over 13.5 Years							.350*	.128	.026	.335*	.122	.029	.334*	.122	.030
Male							095	044	.449	136	063	.270	156	072	.206
Remoteness (vs not remote)															
Low							.052	.024	.715	.032	.015	.816	.064	.029	.646
Moderate							105	027	.667	102	027	.667	071	018	.765
High/Extreme							.677**	.176	.008	.683**	.177	.006	.683**	.177	.006
Teachers Style										036**	171	.009	036**	169	.010
Adverse Family Events													.058	.110	.062
Closest Relationships													016	049	.379
Financial Stress													.033	.039	.505
$R^2$		.000			.039			.089			.139			.157	
Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>		003			.032			.063			.108			.118	
R2 Change		.000			.038			.050			.050			.018	

Note: \* p<0.05, \*\* p<.0.001

#### Model 1: The impact of cultural identity on substance use

The fit statistics suggest that the first model for cultural identity does not fit the data better than a model without any independent variables F(1, 289 = .110; p = .741), explaining less than 1% of the variance in substance use (adjusted  $R^2 = -.003$ ). Consistent with this, cultural identity was not a significant predictor of substance use (b = -.002,  $\beta = -.019$ , p = .741) (see Table 4.2).

#### Model 2: The impact of cultural identity in school on substance use

Adding cultural identity in school Model 2 improved the fit of the model (F(2, 288) = 5.811; p = .003), and significantly increased the proportion of variance explained ( $R^2$  Change = .038; F(2, 288) = 5.811; p = .003). Cultural identity in school was a significant predictor of substance use (b = -.064, p = .001). The standardised coefficient indicates that a 1 standard deviation increase in cultural identity in school would yield a decrease in substance use of .227, after controlling cultural identity. As reported in Table 4.2, cultural identity remained a non-significant predictor of substance use (b = .008, p = .157). Overall, this model accounts for 3.2% of the variance in substance use (adjusted  $R^2 = .032$ ).

#### Model 3: The impact of demographic and characteristic variables on substance use

For the third model, demographic characteristics were added: age, gender, socio-economic disadvantage, and low, moderate, and extreme remoteness (see Table 4.2). Accounting for an additional 5% of the variance in substance use ( $R^2$ Change = .050; F(8, 282) = 3.441; p .001), this model fit to the data better than a model with no independent variables (F(8, 282) = 3.764; p = .001).

In this block, only age (b = .350, p = .026) and extreme remoteness (vs not remote) (b = .677, p = .008) were significant predictors of substance use, after adjusting for the other variables in the model. Older youth on average have higher substance use participation than

younger youth: participants aged over 13.5 years have an estimated substance use score 0.35 higher than participants 13.5 and under. Those residing in an area of extreme remoteness have, on average, an estimated substance use score that is 0.667 higher than those living in non-remote areas.

Although there is a small reduction in strength, cultural identity in school remained a significant, and strongest, predictor of substance use, with stronger cultural identity reducing substance use (b = -.062,  $\beta = -.218$ , p = .001).

#### Model 4: The impact of teachers' style on substance use

This model adds teachers' style, which adds 5% to the proportion of explained variance in substance use (R<sup>2</sup>Change = .050; F(10, 280) = 4.524; p .001). Again, the fourth model fits better than a constant-only model (F(10, 280) = 4.711; p = .001), explaining almost 11% of the variance in substance use.

While age and extreme remoteness (vs not remote) remain significant predictors of higher substance use (b = .335, p = .029; b = .683, p = .006, respectively), cultural identity in school no longer has a significant impact on substance use (b = -.032, p = .108) (see Table 4.2). Teachers' style has a significant negative effect on substance use, after adjusting for other variables in the model (b = -.036,  $\beta = -.171$ , p = .009). For each 1 unit increase in teachers' style, we would expect an average .036 (or 0.171 standard deviation units) decrease in substance use, holding all other variables constant. Together, these results suggest that teachers' style mediates the effect of cultural identity in school on substance use.

#### Model 5: The impact of family on substance use

For the fifth and final, life and family circumstances were included the analysis: closest relationships, adverse family events, and financial stress. The fifth model fits that data (F(13, 277) = 3.982; p = .001), but does not significantly improve the proportion of explained variance in substance use (R<sup>2</sup>Change = .018; F(13, 277) = 4.101; p .001) (see

Table 4.2). The full model accounts for 11.8 % of the variation in substance use, suggesting that 88.2 % of variation in substance use in this model cannot be explained by the included variables (adjusted  $R^2 = 0.118$ ).

None of the life and family circumstances variables were significant predictors of substances use; adverse family events (b = .058, p = .062), closeness of relationships (b = .016, p = .379) and financial stress (b = .033, p = .505). The pattern of significant predictors remained unchanged from Model 4, with no change to the size or direction of their coefficients. After controlling for all other variables, residing in an area of extreme remoteness (vs not remote) remained the strongest significant predictor, increasing substance use ( $\beta = .177$ ).

Of particular interest, teachers' style continued to have a significant protective effect on substance use, adjusting for the other variables. On average, with each unit increase in the teachers' style scale, substance use reduced by 0.036 units, or 0.169 standard deviations (b = -.036,  $\beta = -.169$ , p = .010). Cultural identity in school remained mediated through teachers' style (b = -.030, p = .128).

### Summary

In short, the analysis found that the measure of cultural identity was not significantly related to the substance use scale, but that the measure of cultural identity in school was significantly related to the substance use scale. However, in adjusting for other variables, the analysis suggested that cultural identity in school was mediated by participants' rating of positive teachers' style. Of further interest, after controlling for all variables, age, and extreme remoteness (vs not) were significant predictors of substances use; however, adverse life circumstances, disadvantage and gender did not have a significant impact on substance use. The implications of these results are discussed in the next chapter.

# **Chapter 5:Discussion**

This study examined the relationship between cultural identity and substance use for a sample of Indigenous youth. In doing this, the study sought to, although imperfectly, address some of the critiques of criminological theory by Indigenous scholars. That is, Indigenous perspective and experiences remain peripheral in much criminological research (Cunneen, 2020; Tauri, 2013). Thus, this study works on this challenge in three key ways. First, in recognising colonial processes, this study critically responded to how Indigenous worldview is missing in our understanding of substance use through using the concept of cultural identity. Second, cultural identity was measured using items developed by Indigenous researchers, in consultation with Indigenous stakeholders. Finally, the study relies on an Indigenous only sample.

#### Key findings

There were several noteworthy findings in this study. First, contrary to expectations that cultural identity would have a protective effect, cultural identity did not have a statistically significant effect on substance use, even after adjusting for other variables. Moreover, there was no significant difference in median cultural identity scores for those who reported having smoked (versus those who have not) and those who reported alcohol use (versus those with no use). This lack of a significant effect could in part be due to methodological issues, such as insufficient variation in the cultural identity measure in the sample.

Second, and in contrast, cultural identity in school had a significant protective effect on substance use, until teachers' style was introduced into the model. Thus, the impact of cultural identity in school appears to be mediated by participants' assessment of

attentiveness, responsiveness and understanding of their teachers. The implications of this will be discussed later.

Third, after controlling for other variables in the model, teachers' style had a significant protective effect on substance use. This result is consistent with Han et al. (2015) and Nagasawa et al, (2000) where early onset delay for smoking and alcohol consumption was found to be correlated with attachment to teachers.

Fourth, although more adverse family events were positively correlated with increased substance use, these measures were not statistically significant in the multivariate model. Thus, unlike what is suggested by general strain theory, there was no empirical evidence that adverse family events were important in understanding substance use in this sample of Indigenous youth. Again, it is possible that this may reflect a lack of variation in the experience of adverse family events (which was measured over a 12-month period).

Finally, age and residing in an area of extreme remoteness (versus not remote) remained the strongest predictors of substance use, after adjusting for the other variables in the model. Unsurprisingly, older participants (aged over 13.5 years) had higher mean levels of substance use than younger participants (13.5 years and under); those living in areas of extreme remoteness also had higher mean levels of substances use, compared to those not in remote locations. Remoteness limits access to support, activities and other resources, its presence as a risk factor for substance use could be expected.

#### Implications and contribution

The outcome of this study is somewhat surprising and enlightening from a criminological standpoint. The results show that cultural identity may not provide a protective mechanism for -substance use of Indigenous youth. However, the findings suggests that cultural identity in school and teachers' style are protective. So what does this mean? One possible explanation focuses on methodological issues in measurement and model

specification (briefly noted above). However, if we take another look at the cultural identity in school and teachers' style items in the LSIC questionnaire, another plausible interpretation emerges. The cultural identity in school items can be seen as indicators of how safe participants felt being Indigenous within their school environment (e.g. 'felt good about being Indigenous in class'; 'wanted classmates to know that he/she is Indigenous'). In other words, these items might be measuring participants' perceptions of cultural safety. Similarly, the items in the teachers' style scale are about how the teacher interacts with the participant in ways that are respectful (e.g. 'the teacher listened to the study child'; 'the teacher understands how the study child talks'). Thus, these results highlight that what might matter in reducing substance use for Indigenous youth is cultural safety in expressing cultural identity and respect in interactions, at least for participants within a school context. Criminology has, to some extent, overlooked safety and respect in substance use research and intervention/prevention programs., which may explain why criminological theory has struggled to explain youth substance use, particularly for Indigenous populations in colonised countries.

What these findings also reinforce is that key institutions (such as schools) with which youth engage are important for reducing substance use. Previous health and youth research has identified that strong school connectedness and attachments are associated with lower levels of substance use. For example, similar items used in this study to measure cultural identity in school were also used by Mulla et al. (2020) to measure school connectedness in a study on dating, sexual violence, and substance use. The researchers found that school connectedness was negatively associated with alcohol and marijuana use for a sample of 10th grade high school students in the United States. Bond et al. (2007) found that strong school and social connectedness was associated with positive student outcomes for mental health, substance use, and educational achievement in a sample of 13- to 16-year-old students.

Similarly, Weatherson et al. (2018) also found that strong school connectedness had a protective effect on substance use for a sample of year 1 to 4 school students in Canada.

Here lies the challenge. For Indigenous youth (and populations more broadly), institutions and their practices are part of ongoing colonising practices. As research (such as that described above) indicates that educational spaces provide an effective environment for reducing the risk of substance use participation for youth, this is not necessarily the case for Indigenous youth where institutional practices fail to respond to the legacies of colonisation and historical trauma. Educational institutions assume a westernised non-Indigenous perspective of youth and education, resulting in negative attributions to the behaviours and motivations of Indigenous youth. Any successful school-based intervention needs to incorporate Indigenous perspectives and experiences, and as this research suggest that cultural safety and respect are critical elements. Although it should be mentioned that schools in general do not embody Indigenous perspectives on education. Vass, (2012) argues the deficits in Indigenous education in Australia suggesting that mainstream education, and even Indigenous education in the same educational system, in many ways is structured to achieve non-Indigenous purposes. This speaks to the relationships of power, and knowledge in mainstream education.

#### Future directions

Care must be taken in the interpretation of these findings, due to the limitations around the current study's findings, particularly around the use of secondary data and sampling procedure (see Chapter 3). However, a more important limitation is the use of quantitative methods, which have often been identified by Indigenous scholars as contributing to colonising processes around what knowledge is valued (Tauri, 2013). To partially address this challenge, a questionnaire designed by Indigenous researchers and stakeholders was used.

Thus, future research on substance use (and risky behaviours more generally) needs to:

- expand beyond cultural identity to consider cultural safety and respect as important protective mechanisms to produce positive outcomes for Indigenous youth.
- qualitatively explore what cultural identity, cultural safety and respect means
   from Indigenous perspectives and experiences, particularly young people.
- embed Indigenous communities as collaborators in building a better
   understanding of more positive outcomes around substance use can be attained for
   Indigenous youth.

On a final note, the premise that criminological theory has neglected Indigenous peoples' experiences of colonisation has been at the heart of this research. Colonisation has embedded bias, control and coercion into policy and institutional practices, including criminal justice and schools. In past research, cultural identity has emerged as a possible resource that Indigenous adults and youth might use to mitigate the impact of ongoing trauma and colonising processes. The current study suggests that, at least for a sample of Australian Indigenous youth, it might be the ability to be safe to express your cultural identity that provides a protective effect against negative outcomes, such as substances use. In other words, cultural safety and respect may provide a mechanism that can be used by Indigenous youth to navigate interactions with institutions to achieve more positive and resilient outcomes.

# **Appendices**

Appendix 1

Item recoding table

Variables	Previous Coding	New Coding					
Smoking/Alcohol	1=No	0=No					
	2=Yes	1=Yes					
	3=Yes just a few puffs/sips						
	4=Yes lots of times						
	5=Smoked/drank in previous wave						
Vaping, Marijuana Chroming, Other	1=Yes	1=Yes					
Drugs	2=No	0=No					
Financial stress	1=Yes	1=Yes					
	2=No	0=No					
Family events	1=Yes	1=Yes					
	2=No	0=No					
Cultural identity	1=Yes always	1=No never					
	2=Yes most of the time	2=No not much					
	3=Sometimes fair bit	3=Sometimes little bit					
	4=Sometimes little bit	4=Sometimes fair bit					
	5=No not much	5=Yes most of the time					
	6=No never	6=Yes always					
Cultural identity in school	1=Yes always	1=No never					
	2=Yes most of the time	2=No not much					
	3=Sometimes fair bit	3=Sometimes little bit					
	4=Sometimes little bit	4=Sometimes fair bit					
	5=No not much	5=Yes most of the time					
	6=No never	6=Yes always					
Teachers style	1 = Never	Same as previous					
	2 = Not much						
	3 = Little bit						
	4 = Fair bit						
	5 = Most of the time						
	6 = Always						
Male	1	1					
Female	2	0					
Age	Continuous measure	0 = under 13.5 years					

		1 = over 13.5 years
Level of relative remoteness		Dummy Variables
None	1	$1 = \mathbf{Yes} \ 0 = \mathbf{No}$
Low	2	$1 = \mathbf{Yes} \ 0 = \mathbf{No}$
Moderate	3	$1 = \mathbf{Yes} \ 0 = \mathbf{No}$
High/extreme	4	$1 = Yes \ 0 = No$

Appendix 2
Aspects of Indigenous identity Items.

	Level of Importance							
Response	Not very	Somewhat	Important	Very	Extremely			
Variable			%					
People and mob	3.3	5.3	12.8	21.6	55			
Country	2.3	3.3	11.6	24.4	58.0			
Family connections	2.3	5.5	12.7	19.8	59.6			
Strong Indigenous role models	5.0	4.8	18.1	17.8	51.5			
Ways and laws of Indigenous Ancestors	7.3	7.3	12.5	16.4	56.0			
Knowing Indigenous stories	3.5	6.5	20.6	16.1	47.7			
Indigenous events	5.5	4.5	12.8	21.9	54.0			
Being strong and deadly	2.0	1.8	9.3	15.1	71.1			
Community connections	2.8	6.5	13.3	21.1	52.8			
Having Indigenous friends	8.8	7.0	14.8	17.3	50.5			
Knowing the language of your people	9.5	7.0	14.8	15.6	50.5			
Bush foods and medicine	7.5	10.6	19.8	17.8	38.9			
Aboriginal Torres Strait Islander flag	1.8	2.8	8.0	14.8	71.6			
Indigenous symbols design and art works	3.3	4.3	12.8	19.8	58.8			
News and media that talk about culture	9.0	12.1	19.3	17.3	38.4			

Appendix 3

Cultural identity in school

	Level of Importance								
	Never No not Sometimes little Sometimes fair Yes, most of								
		much	bit	bit	the time	always			
Variable				%					
Study child feels good about being	1.0	1.0	4.8	5.3	15.6	66.8			
Indigenous in class									
Study child wants to share things about	3.5	10.6	12.3	16.6	20.9	28.4			
being Indigenous									
Study child feels safe about being	.8	1.8	2.5	7.0	14.8	66.6			
Indigenous in class									
Study child wants classmates to know	2.5	5.8	5.5	8.8	18.3	51.5			
he/she is Indigenous									

Appendix 4

Descriptive results for teachers' style.

	Level of Importance								
Response	Never	Not	Little	Fair	Most	Always			
		Much	Bit	Bit	of the				
					time				
Variables		%							
Teachers are fair to study child	6	21	27	71	121	158			
Teachers make sure class is fun	6	24	37	75	125	139			
Teachers care about study child	2	10	28	46	86	231			
Teachers understand how study child talks	3	16	31	63	101	188			

Appendix 5

Descriptive results for adverse family events.

Response	N	О		Yes
Adverse events for a family member or a close friend	n	%	n	%
Hurt or sick	278	65.9	144	34.1
Passed away	207	49.1	215	50.9
Lose a job	394	93.4	28	6.6
Housing problems	295	69.9	127	30.1
Alcohol or drug problems	345	81.8	77	18.2
Mugged or assaulted	401	95.0	21	5.0
Robbed	388	91.9	34	8.1
Problems with police	361	85.5	61	14.5
Arrested or jail	375	88.9	47	11.1
Study child upset by family arguments	329	78.0	93	22.0
Study child scared by other people	336	79.6	86	20.4
Family split up	397	94.1	25	5.9
Study child is cared for by someone else	83.6	353	16.4	69

**Appendix 6**Financial stress variables

Variables		Yes	No		
	n	%	n	%	
Could not pay bills on time	108	26	307	74	
Could not pay housing payments in time	41	10	374	90	
Went without meals	18	4.3	397	95.7	
Unable to heat or cool home	15	3.6	401	96.4	
Pawned or sold something	36	8.7	378	91.3	
Assistance from welfare organisation	52	12.5	363	87.5	
Child could not do school activities	24	5.8	391	94.2	

#### References

- Agozino, B. (2004). Imperialism, crime and criminology: Towards the decolonisation of criminology. *Crime, Law and Social Change*, 41(4), 343-358.
- Bahr, S. J., Hoffmann, J. P., & Yang, X. (2005). Parental and peer influences on the risk of adolescent drug use. *Journal of primary prevention*, 26(6), 529-551.
- Bond, L., Butler, H., Thomas, L., Carlin, J., Glover, S., Bowes, G., & Patton, G. (2007).
  Social and school connectedness in early secondary school as predictors of late teenage substance use, mental health, and academic outcomes. *Journal of adolescent health*, 40(4), 357. e359-357. e318.
- Broadhurst, R. G. (2002). Crime and Indigenous people. In Graycar, A. Gragosky, P. (Eds.), *Handbook of Australian Criminology*, University Press: Melbourne, pp. 256-280.
- Cao, L., Burton Jr, V. S., & Liu, L. (2018). Correlates of Illicit Drug Use Among Indigenous Peoples in Canada: A Test of Social Support Theory. *International journal of offender* therapy and comparative criminology, 62(14), 4510-4527.
- Carrington, K. (2011). Punitiveness and the criminalisation of the other: State wards, unlawful non-citizens and indigenous youth. *Somatechnics*, *1*(1), 30-47.
- Catto, M., & Thomson, N. (2008). Review of illicit drug use among Indigenous peoples.

  \*Australian Indigenous Health Bulletin, 8(4), 32p, Article 1.
- Cunneen, C. (2020). *Conflict, politics and crime: Aboriginal communities and the police* . Routledge.
- Cunneen, C., & Baldry, E. (2011). "Contemporary penality in the shadow of colonial patriarchy". Paper Presented at the Fifth Annual ANZ Critical Criminology Conference, July 6–7, Cairns, Australia.

- Cunneen, C., & Tauri, J. (2018). Indigenous criminology. In *The Routledge companion to criminological theory and concepts* (pp. 306-310). Routledge.
- Department of Social Services (2021): Footprints in Time: The Longitudinal Study of Indigenous Children Data User Guide, Release 11.0. Canberra.

  https://dataverse.ada.edu.au/dataset.xhtml?persistentId=doi:10.26193/ICEBFP
- Dockery, A. M. (2010). Culture and wellbeing: The case of Indigenous Australians. *Social indicators research*, 99(2), 315-332.
- Duncan, S. C., Duncan, T. E., & Hops, H. (1996). Analysis of longitudinal data within accelerated longitudinal designs. *Psychological methods*, *1*(3), 236-248.
- Eitle, T., Eitle, D., & Johnson-Jennings, M. (2013). General strain theory and substance use among American Indian adolescents. *Race and Justice*, *3*(1), 3-30.
- Farrington, D. P. (2000). Explaining and preventing crime: The globalization of knowledge—
  The American Society of Criminology 1999 presidential address. *Criminology*, 38(1),
  1-24.
- Ferrante, A. M. (2013). Assessing the influence of "standard" and "culturally specific" risk factors on the prevalence and frequency of offending: The case of indigenous Australians. *Race and Justice*, *3*(1), 58-82.
- Graham, L. J., Killingly, C., Laurens, K. R., & Sweller, N. (2022). Overrepresentation of Indigenous students in school suspension, exclusion, and enrolment cancellation in Queensland: is there a case for systemic inclusive school reform? *The Australian Educational Researcher*, 1-35.
- Haines, K., & Case, S. (2008). The rhetoric and reality of the Risk Factor Prevention

  Paradigm'approach to preventing and reducing youth offending. *Youth justice*, 8(1), 5
  20.

- Han, Y., Kim, H., & Ma, J. (2015). School bonds and the onset of substance use among Korean youth: an examination of social control theory. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 12(3), 2923-2940.
- Heris, C., Guerin, N., Thomas, D., Chamberlain, C., Eades, S., & White, V. M. (2021).
   Smoking behaviours and other substance use among Indigenous and non-Indigenous
   Australian secondary students, 2017. *Drug and Alcohol Review*, 40(1), 58-67.
- Hirschi, T. (1969). Key idea: Hirschi's social bond/social control theory. *Key ideas in criminology and criminal justice*, 1969, 55-69.
- Hogg, R. (2001). Penality and modes of regulating Indigenous peoples in Australia.

  \*Punishment & Society, 3(3), 355-379.
- King, M., Smith, A., & Gracey, M. (2009). Indigenous health part 2: the underlying causes of the health gap. *The lancet*, *374*(9683), 76-85.
- Krohn, M. D., & Massey, J. L. (1980). Social control and delinquent behavior: An examination of the elements of the social bond. *The sociological quarterly*, 21(4), 529-544.
- Loxley, W., Toumbourou, J., Stockwell, T., Haines, B., Scott, K., Godfrey, C., Waters, E., Patton, G., Fordham, R., & Gray, D. (2004). The prevention of substance use, risk and harm in Australia: a review of the evidence. Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing: Canberra.

  https://espace.curtin.edu.au/handle/20.500.11937/30403
- MacRae, A., & Hoareau, J. (2016). Review of illicit drug use among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. *Australian Indigenous HealthInfoNet*, 8(4), 32.
- McCormick, R. M. (2000). Aboriginal traditions in the treatment of substance abuse.

  Canadian Journal of Counselling and Psychotherapy, 34(1).

- Mulla, M. M., Bogen, K. W., & Orchowski, L. M. (2020). The mediating role of school connectedness in the associations between dating and sexual violence victimization and substance use among high school students. *Preventive medicine*, 139, 106197.
- Murrup-Stewart, C., Whyman, T., Jobson, L., & Adams, K. (2021). Understanding culture: the voices of urban Aboriginal young people. *Journal of Youth Studies*, 24(10), 1308-1325.
- Nagasawa, R., Qian, Z., & Wong, P. (2000). Social control theory as a theory of conformity: the case of Asian/Pacific drug and alcohol nonuse. *Sociological Perspectives*, 43(4), 581-603.
- Nielsen, M. O., & Robyn, L. (2003). Colonialism and criminal justice for Indigenous peoples in Australia, Canada, New Zealand and the United States of America. *Indigenous* Nations Studies Journal, 4(1), 29-45.
- Nutton, J., & Fast, E. (2015). Historical trauma, substance use, and indigenous peoples: seven generations of harm from a "big event". *Substance use & misuse*, *50*(7), 839-847.
- O'Brien, G., & Trudgett, M. (2020). School house to big house. *The Australian Journal of Indigenous Education*, 49(1), 98-106.
- Peck, J. H. (2013). Examining race and ethnicity in the context of general strain theory, depression, and delinquency. *Deviant Behavior*, *34*(9), 706-726.
- Schroeder, R. D., & Ford, J. A. (2012). Prescription drug misuse: A test of three competing criminological theories. *Journal of Drug Issues*, 42(1), 4-27.
- Shepherd, S. M., Delgado, R. H., & Paradies, Y. (2018b). Inter-relationships among cultural identity, discrimination, distress, agency, and safety among indigenous people in custody. *International Journal of Forensic Mental Health*, 17(2), 111-121.

- Shepherd, S. M., Delgado, R. H., Sherwood, J., & Paradies, Y. (2018a). The impact of indigenous cultural identity and cultural engagement on violent offending. *BMC public health*, 18(1), 1-7.
- Short, D. (2003). Reconciliation, assimilation, and the indigenous peoples of Australia. *International Political Science Review*, 24(4), 491-513.
- Sotero, M. (2006). A conceptual model of historical trauma: Implications for public health practice and research. *Journal of health disparities research and practice*, *I*(1), 93-108.
- Spooner, P. (2001). Moving in the wrong direction: an analysis of police move-on powers in Queensland. *Youth Studies Australia*, 20(1), 27-31.
- Steele, J. L. (2016). Race and general strain theory: Examining the impact of racial discrimination and fear on adolescent marijuana and alcohol use. *Substance use & misuse*, 51(12), 1637-1648.
- Tauri, J. M. (2013). Indigenous critique of authoritarian criminology. *Crime, justice and social democracy* (pp. 217-233). Springer.
- Tauri, J. M., & Porou, N. (2014). Criminal justice as a colonial project in settler-colonialism.
  Faculty of Social Sciences-Papers. 3196
  https://ro.uow.edu.au/sspapers/3196
- Tavakol, M., & Dennick, R. (2011). Making sense of Cronbach's alpha. *International journal of medical education*, 2, 53-55.
- Vakalahi, H. F. (2001). Adolescent substance use and family-based risk and protective factors: A literature review. *Journal of drug education*, 31(1), 29-46.
- Vass, G. (2012). 'So, what is wrong with Indigenous education?' Perspective, position and power beyond a deficit discourse. *The Australian Journal of Indigenous Education*, 41(2), 85-96.

- Weatherson, K. A., O'Neill, M., Lau, E. Y., Qian, W., Leatherdale, S. T., & Faulkner, G. E. (2018). The protective effects of school connectedness on substance use and physical activity. *Journal of adolescent health*, 63(6), 724-731.
- White, R. (1999). Indigenous youth and offensive spaces. Social Alternatives, 18(2), 39-43.
- White, R. (2015). Indigenous young people and hyperincarceration in Australia. *Youth Justice*, 15(3), 256-270.
- Williams, A. D., Clark, T. C., & Lewycka, S. (2018). The associations between cultural identity and mental health outcomes for indigenous Māori youth in New Zealand. *Frontiers in public health*, 6, 319.